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1. ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)
Street address: 8701 Ridge Avenue / Formerly known as 8706 Old Line Rd
Postal code: 19128 Councilmanic District: 4

2. NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Historic Name: “Manatawna”

Common Name: The Morgan Mansion; Seroonian Armenian Community Center

3. TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
X Building [ ] Structure [ ] Site [ ] Object

4. PROPERTY INFORMATION
Condition: X excellent [ ] good [ ] fair ] poor [] ruins
Occupancy: [ ] occupied []vacant [] under construction X] unknown

Current use: Community Center / St. Greqgory llluminator Armenian Apostolic Church

5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Please attach a plot plan and written description of the boundary.

6. DESCRIPTION

Please attach a description of the historic resource and supplement with current photographs.

7. SIGNIFICANCE
Please attach the Statement of Significance.

Period of Significance (from year to year): from 1927 to 1959

Date(s) of construction and/or alteration: 1927

Architect, engineer, and/or designer: Arthur Howell Brockie (1876-1946)

Builder, contractor, and/or artisan: Unknown

Original owner: Reed Augustus Morgan (1866-1959)

Other significant persons: None




CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

X (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural
characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person
significant in the past; or,

(b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation;
or,

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,

(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,
(e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work
has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of
the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,

(f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant
innovation; or,

(9) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved
according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,

(h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and
familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,

(i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or

(i) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.
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Please attach a bibliography.
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Section No. 5 — Boundary Description.

ALL THAT CERTAIN LOT OR PIECE OF GROUND situated in the 21st Ward
of the City of Philadelphia, described as follows, to wit:

BEGINNING at a point on the Easterly side of Ridge Avenue (open 50 feet wide)
at the distance of 853 feet 8-% inches measured in a general Southerly direction
along the said Easterly side of Ridge Avenue from the middle line of Manatawna
(50 feet wide) thence extending Eastwardly 312 feet to a point, thence Northwardly
111 feet 8-7/6 inches to a point, thence Eastwardly 884 feet 1-3/6 inches more or
less to a point on the Southwesterly side of Old Line Road (60 feet wide) thence
Southeastwardly along the said Southwesterly side of Old Line Road 204 feet 4-
7/8 inches to a point, thence Westwardly 1368 feet 8-5/8 inches more or less to the
said Easterly side of Ridge Avenue, thence Northwardly along the said Easterly
side of Ridge Avenue 231 feet 7-7/8 inches to a point, being the first mentioned
point and place of beginning.

o From the 1959 Deed —CAB:1160;412, which is the last deed of record on
this property.




Section No. 5 — Boundary Description.

For the purposes of this nomination, the church fronting Ridge Avenue is considered to be non-
contributing and is not intended to be included as part of the historic designation. The boundary
marked in red below outlines the portion of the parcel which is proposed for historic designation.
Its boundaries are approximately as follows:

Beginning at a Northeastern point on the Westerly side of Old Line Road, extending
Southeastwardly 204 feet to a point, then Westwardly 662 feet to a point, thence Northwardly
252 feet to a point, thence Eastwardly 603 feet to a point, being the first mentioned point and
place of beginning.

The detached garage, located within this proposed boundary to the west of the main building, is
considered non-contributing for the purposes of this nomination.




Section No. 6 — Description.

“Manatawna” was erected in Northern Roxborough in 1927 on the Eastern end of
a large land tract containing seven acres, bordered by Ridge Avenue on the West
and Old Line Road on the East where the principal entrance drive is located. This
mansion was designed by the Philadelphia architect Arthur H. Brockie, a brother-
in-law of the original owner Reed Augustus Morgan, a wealthy Philadelphia
stockbroker. The mansion was constructed primarily of coursed Wissahickon
schist-ashlar stone in an imitative Colonial Revival architectural style that was
popular in the early 20th century. Unlike authentic Colonial Revival style, it lacks
symmetry. The mansion’s roof is reminiscent of the Georgian architectural style.

Front (Northern) Facade:

Its roof includes a central pyramid flanked with combination A-frame/hip roofs
originally covered with grey slate shingles. The front facade raises two and one
half stories in height and is eight bays wide. Each bay once had six-over-six
sashes, which were changed to one-over-one. A portico with its two un-fluted
Doric columns that supported a pedimental roof over the main entrance was
enclosed after 1959. The two-story solarium on the East end of the mansion was
also enclosed during the same period. Unlike the mansion’s schist-ashlar stone
fabric, the chimneys are made of brick and exhibit a Flemish-bond pattern. These
chimneys are positioned in an unsymmetrical fashion that rise five feet above the
roof. The central pyramid roof contains an attic box-dormer with three bays.
Three staggered rows of bronze roof-cleats travel the full length of the roof just
above the gutters. To the right of the aforementioned main entrance and Western
end of the mansion is a four-car garage that forms a Western wing having no
counterpart on the Eastern end. A circular turnabout stands before the main
entrance and once contained a large beech tree at its centre.

Eastern Facade:

The Eastern facade is four bays wide and contains a two-story solarium. Before its
post-1959 renovation, the ground floor had a series of eight slender one and one
half foot-wide bays, which are now sealed up. (See figure “a”).

Southern Facade:

The Southern facade is nine bays wide and include two projecting bays that rise to

the height of the second floor windowsills. (See figures “f & g”). These bays
flank a central rear entrance having double French doors, which are also flanked by



Section No. 6 — Description.

sidelights with a fanlight above. Unfortunately, the post-1959 renovation of the
mansion resulted in sealing up this fanlight. (See figure “h”).

The central pyramid roof contains a flat-roofed box-dormer with three bays. Three
staggered rows of bronze roof-cleats travel the full length of the roof just above the
gutters. There is a large veranda surrounded with a low-rising wall having two sets
of steps consisting of four steps each, located at the South-central part of the
aforementioned low-rising wall and at the Eastern end. These steps once led into a
small formal garden with a fountain at its centre.

The Western Facade & Garage:

Here is located the kitchen porch. This part of the mansion rises two-stories and is
two bays wide. To the left of this kitchen is a four-car garage rising one story in
height and surmounted with a hip roof. Original wooden garage doors consisted of
two sets of double doors each, which swung outward. This garage had a party wall
separating the four-car garage into two two-car garages. Again, the post-1959
renovations resulted in removing the interior party wall and redesigning the garage
doors into walls having two sets of double doors. (See figures “j & m”). The
Eastern facade of the garage is three-bays wide with the Northern wall being two
bays wide. The shutters of these bays have been permanently nailed shut. The
bays however, still survive and contain six-over-six sashes.* (See figure “n”).

A second detached three-car garage erected nearby the mansion during the
1960s for maintenance vehicles and large implements, is not Germane for the
purpose of this nomination. (See figures “k & 17).

The Church & Church Hall:

“Manatwana” was erected in 1927 on the easternmost part of a seven-acre tract of
land. In 1967, the incumbent owners had a church building and church hall erected
on the westernmost part nearest to Ridge Avenue, which is not Germaine to this
nomination.

! Remembered from the nominator’s personal tour of the mansion in 1960.



Section No. 7 — Significance.

Reed Augustus Morgan was born into a Germantown middle-class family in
1866 the second eldest child of five. His education in the public schools and at
Germantown Academy advanced no further upon his graduation. Being the son of
a stockbroker and banker, it is understood why he chose to follow in the footsteps
of his father William Cole Morgan (1840-1912). As his life progressed, his
financial standing in Philadelphia had increased substantially. Just how he became
acquainted with Marian Baird, daughter of an old and wealthy Philadelphia family,
Is unknown. We do know that he married her in 1901 and sired two daughters,
Marian B. (1902-1902) and Elizabeth M. (1903-2003) and two sons, Reed, Jr.
(1909-1986) and Charles Baird (1918-1993).!

By 1922, the family had relocated to 121 W. Chestnut Hill Avenue, once the
Summer home of Mr. & Mrs. R. H. Bayard Bowie from whom they rented.” The
Morgans named this house “The Midwoods,” presumably because it was nearly
situated at the edge of the Wissahickon Valley. From this residence their only
daughter Elizabeth was introduced into Philadelphia society as a debutante.® There
are numerous newspaper articles attesting to the family’s holidays in Europe, their
charita?le pursuits, horseback rides along the Wissahickon Creek, and social
events.

The primary source of Reed A. Morgan’s wealth was the firm of Reed A.
Morgan & Co., which he founded and ran as its chief executive officer along with
two associates, H. Wilson Moorhouse and George C. Barber, 3rd. With offices
located in the West End Trust Building at 15th & Walnut Streets in Philadelphia,
the firm was admitted to the Philadelphia Stock Exchange in 1908. The Morgan
Company dealt in high-grade, tax-free railroad bonds, equipment notes and locally
active public utility issues.’

In 1926, Reed A. Morgan purchased a seven-acre tract of land in Upper
Roxborough which ran from Old Line Road on the East to Ridge Avenue on the
West.® The following year he engaged the services of architect Arthur Howell
Brockie (1875-1946) to design a mansion house in the Colonial Revival style
which he named “Manatawna,” presumably for the place-name where his new
residence was so situated. © Unfortunately, just two years later, the Great
Depression commenced with the crashing of the stock market in New York.

! Jordan, John W., ed.: Colonial Families of Philadelphia, Volume II, p. 1545.

% The Philadelphia Inquirer (September 26, 1922), p. 4.

% Ibid. (November 10, 1922), p. 1.

* Evening Public Ledger (July 7, 1921), p. 9.

> Barnes, Andrew Wallace: History of the Philadelphia Stock Exchange, Banks & Banking., p. 17.
® Deed - JMH:2519;10 (1926)

’ Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, v. 42, No. 9 (March 2, 1927), p. 132.
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Morgan lost nothing substantial. However, the firm of Reed A. Morgan & Co.
was dissolved in 1933 and he retired.?

Reed A. Morgan had been a life-long member of the Protestant Episcopal
Church, serving as lay canon in the unfinished Roxborough Cathedral, erected a
short distance from “Manatawna,” and rector’s warden at St. Luke’s Church,
Germantown. He was a member of the Union League and a vice-president of the
Episcopal Church Foundation, serving as a deputy to several diocesan and national
church conventions. Mr. Morgan died on 15 May 1959 at the age of 93 years,
leaving an estate valued in excess of $538,000.00.° “Manatawna” was sold by the
Widow Morgan in less than four months following his demise.

The thirty-two year residency of the Morgans in this mansion (1927-1959)
was primarily uneventful because they were both nearing the autumn years of their
life together. The importance of the mansion lay more in the lives of those
residing in it than for its plain unadorned architectural style.

Under criterion (i) large sections of the seven-acre parcel that Manatawna
sits upon contains undisturbed land that has never been ploughed or otherwise built
upon before 1927. Thus it is quite probable this land may yield information
Important in pre-history or history.

The Other Side of Commonplace.

It has long been said that behind every successful man there is a woman.
And clearly, Marian (Baird) Morgan (1875-1966) is just such a woman, whose
family history is impressive, dating back before the American Revolution in the
City of Philadelphia.

Under criterion (a), the mansion is associated with the life of a person
significant in the past history of the city of Philadelphia. Marian Baird was the
eldest daughter and third born child of Matthew Baird, Sr. (1817-1877), by his
second marriage. Her father was a partner and later sole owner of the Baldwin
Locomotive Works, a prominent Philadelphia-based business during the Industrial
Revolution and beyond. Mr. Baird sired no less than twelve children from his two
marriages, and had twenty-four grandchildren. (See attached pedigree charts). His
daughter by his first marriage, Mary Louse Baird (1859-1946) married Edward
Oram Shakespeare, M.D. (1846-1900) who had been a prominent Philadelphia

8 Philadelphia Inquirer (May 16, 1959), p. 32 - Obituary.
9 W-1814-1959 - Estate of Reed A. Morgan, Dec’d.



Section No. 7 — Significance.

physician and a lineal descendant of William Shakespeare of English literary fame
during the reign of Queen Elizabeth 1.*°

At the time of his death in 1877, Matthew Baird left an estate valued in
excess of $2,000,000.00."* The Baird family continued to inhabit his mansion at
No. 814 N. Broad Street in Philadelphia until 1885, when they removed to one of
the largest country seats then known along Philadelphia’s Main Line at Merion
Station, Pennsylvania. Mr. Baird’s second wife engaged the architect Benjamin
Lightfoot to design a mansion that befitted this millionaire widow’s social status.
Naming their castle-like mansion “Bardwold, ” which sat at the centre of a twenty-
seven acre park and employed a staff of no less than nineteen servants to maintain
the mansion and a stable containing fifty horses.** (See figures “p & q”). Into this
environment Marian Baird had been introduced in her formative years. Her mother
was somewhat of a spendthrift, throwing large parties at Bardwold for all
occasions, from debutant introductions to wedding receptions.*®> Marion Baird,
along with her mother, travelled frequently, and on one occasion with the
Rockefellers of Tarrytown, New York, on a trip across the continent in a private
train, then to Alaska, and returning through the Yellowstone National Park."*

But the Baird family’s millions, though wisely invested for their increase,
could not match the family’s spending and Matthew Baird’s two million dollar
legacy once divided amongst his twenty-four grandchildren. Thus it came as no
surprise that something had to go and Bardwold was placed on the real estate
market in 1899." Amid this change in family fortune came the wedding of Marian
Baird to Reed Augustus Morgan in 1901, which took place in one of Bardwold’s
four piazzas.”® Today nothing remains of Bardwold, the mansion and adjoining
houses and stables being demolished to make way for a community of prefabs that
cover the once magnificent twenty-seven acre estate grounds.

Despite this reversal of family fortune, Marian (Baird) Morgan managed to
present her own daughter Elizabeth to Philadelphia society at Midwoods their
Chestnut Hill residence.'” For a while the Morgans resided in Paris, France and
toured the many battlefields of the Great War.'® She continued on with the

1% The Cyclopaedia of American Biography, Vol. 5.

1 Obituary. The Philadelphia Inquirer (May 21, 1877), p.1

1211900 United States Population Censuses - “Bardwold” - Merion Station, Pennsylvania
13 Wedding Reception - The Philadelphia Inquirer (May18, 1898), p. 8

* The Philadelphia Times (July 16, 1899), p. 24.

!> The Philadelphia Times (June 18, 1899), p. 22.

'® The Baird-Morgan Wedding - The Philadelphia Inquirer (June 13, 1901), p. 9.

" The Philadelphia Inquirer (November 10, 1922), p. 1.

'8 The Evening Public Ledger ((July 7, 1921), p. 9.

-3
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family’s sense of noblesse oblige through her various charities, not just making
financial contributions but actually volunteering as well.

Marian (Baird) Morgan was a descendant of Captain Henry Darrah of
Pennsylvania, who was commissioned a lieutenant in 1776 and then promoted to
the rank of captain in 1777. Whilst commander of the Bucks County militia, he
was killed in action in 1782 near the end of the American Revolutionary War.*

About the Architect.

Arthur Howell Brockie (1875-1946) was born and received his early
education at Germantown (Philadelphia Co.), Pennsylvania. After his graduation
from Germantown Academy, he attended the University of Pennsylvania where he
received a Bachelor of Science in Architecture, 1895. His career began with a
position in the prestigious firm of Cope & Stewardson where he was employed as a
draughtsman. Around the turn of the 19"-20" century he formed his own company,
Brockie & Hastings, which had great success and lasted until 1919. Afterwards he
remained in business as Arthur H. Brockie. He served on the board of the AlA for
many years.

He specialized in designing hospitals (Germantown Hospital &
Dispensary), banks such as the Corn Exchange Building as 1510-12 Chestnut
Street, and country residences that ranged from estates designed for the well to do
on the outskirts of the city, to quaint country cottages in the fashion of the Sedgeley
Club at the Northern end of Boathouse Row.*°

19 | ineage Book, National Society of the Daughters of the American Revolution - Vol. XXI, (1897), p. 19
- Entry No. 20048.
20 Source: The Friends of Historic Sedgelly, c2015.
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“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

The Morgan Mansion — Northern Roxborough — 21st Ward - Philadelphia - Pennsylvania

Viewed from the East on Old Line Road. This is the Eastern end of a large tract of land that runs to
Ridge Avenue over three city blocks to the West. Source: Google Street View, 2012.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

The Morgan Mansion — Northern Roxborough — 21st Ward - Philadelphia - Pennsylvania

Aerial view, taken 4 September 2014. Source: Pictometry



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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A whitewash-painted Baptist church-building is seen just to the left of the car on Grakyn
Lane. Two water towers depicted on Bromley’s 1892 map are clearly missing to the right of
the church’s rear in this 1959 photograph, the year the widow Morgan sold the premises to
an Armenian congregation. The long driveway or carriage road from the mansion house
exists onto Ridge Avenue just beyond the tree at center. Upper Roxborough was a paradise
of virgin land.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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Figure a

“Manatawna” viewed from the East on Old Line Road seen here at the extreme right in this
1952 city photograph. The South facade had a ballroom with French doors that opened onto
a stone veranda that ran the full length of the mansion. At its Eastern end were three stone
steps leading down to a gravel path that went to Old Line Road. This path was once lined
with pink flowering dogwood trees, seen here, only three of which survive today.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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Figure b Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich

View from the Main Entrance Drive on Old Line Road.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

Figure ¢ Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich
The Northern Fagade & Main Entrance.
The small portico and two columns were enclosed during the 1980s, a second entrance added at the right,

and a first floor solarium seen on the left was sealed up. An old beech tree once occupied the center of the
circular turnaround.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

Figure d Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich

View From the Main Entrance Road.

The solarium of the first floor once had multiple slender windows that admitted sunlight to the many
plants the Morgans kept there.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

Figure e Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015

The Eastern Fagade.

The stone veranda seen here at the left has two sets of stone steps. One set leading down into a formal
garden with a small fountain at its center and another set leading to a gravel pedestrian pathway to Old
Line Road beyond. This pathway was flanked by twenty-four pink and white dogwood trees. Only one tree
survived the passage of time.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

Figure f Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015

The Mansion Viewed From the Southeast.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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Figure g Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015
The Southern Fagade.
The two bays flanking the rear entrance to the hallway within lend light to the ballroom on the right and

the dining room on the left. The veranda steps once led down in a small formal garden with a small
foundation at its center. Today, both have vanished without a trace.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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Figure h Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015

Closeup of the Rear Entrance.

The sidelights and French doors are original, but a fanlight has been completely sealed. The original thick
gray slate slabs that once surfaced the veranda floor have been replaced with concrete during the 1980s.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

Figure i Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015

View From the Southwest.

This is a view of the kitchen with its somewhat out-of-place exhaust fan, not a part of the Brockie’s original
design of the mansion. The smaller section at the left was a laundry. The tin-roofed and pole overhangs
protect cellar window wells from excessive rain water accumulation.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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Figure j Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015

The Western Fagade.

On the right is the laundry/kitchen porch with the four-car garage at the left. There were once two sets of
paneled wooden double garage doors on each garage that swung outward. These doors were removed
during the 1980s renovation and two sets of double doors added as entrances to a wing now used as
rooms. Note the stone wall seen just above the red car that separated the garages into two garages for
two cars each.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.
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Figure k Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015
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The Western Fagade—View No. 2.

This part of the estate’s grounds, just beyond the rear paved surface was originally an orchard of various
fruit trees. The Morgans maintained this orchard mainly for their own use and pantry preserves prepared
by their cooks. It is now an area about one city block of mowed grass.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

iy, R \ e

'. rw - . . . N . . *
Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015

Figure |

The Utility Garages.

This structure or building, added to the premises during the 1980s, is non-contributing for the purpose of
this nomination. Its close proximity to the mansion’s four-car garage is misleading to the average
observer.



“Manatawna” —The Morgan Mansion.

8701 Ridge Avenue.

Figure m Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich, 2015
The Four-Car Garage Wing.

This view from the northwest shows the size of the original two garage entrances that were part of
Brockie’s design. During renovations to turn this garage wing into a wing of the house, the entrances’ size
were reduced and masonry walls added. The shutters of the windows on both the north and east facades

conceal double-hung six-over-six sashes.
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The Northern & Eastern Facades of the Four-Car Garage Wing.
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The Rear Drive Leading to Ridge Avenue.

The line of pine trees seen here to the left of the drive mark the midpoint of the estate’s seen acre tract of
land. Here was also situated an orchard of various fruit trees, none of which survive. The remainder of the
tract is occupied by the Armenian Church complex seen at the left. The spire of the Manatawna (now
Andorra) Baptist Church can be seen near the end of the drive where it turned and continued toward Ridge

Avenue along the side of the Baptist Church property line.



